

# MicroTom – A New Model System for Plant Genomics

# Yinghui Dan<sup>1,2, 3\*</sup> • Zhangjun Fei<sup>4</sup> • Christophe Rothan<sup>5</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Institute for Sustainable and Renewable Resources, Institute for Advanced Learning and Research, 150 Slayton Avenue, Danville, VA 24540, U.S.A.
 <sup>2</sup> Department of Horticulture, Virginia Polytechnic Institute & State University, Blacksburg, VA 24061, U.S.A.

<sup>3</sup> Department of Forestry, Virginia Polytechnic Institute & State University, Blacksburg, VA 24061, U.S.A.

<sup>4</sup> USDA-ARS Plant, Soil, and Nutrition Laboratory and Boyce Thompson Institute, Cornell University 14853, Ithaca, NY, U.S.A.

5 INRA-UMR 619 Biologie du Fruit, IBVI Bordeaux, 33 883 Villenave d'Ornon, France

Corresponding author: \* Yinghui.dan@ialr.org, ydan@vt.edu

# ABSTRACT

The application of genetic modifications to economically important plant species primarily includes tolerance to broad-spectrum herbicides such as glufosinate or glyophosate, resistance to pest and diseases, high yield, biofuel production and better quality food products for consumption. Plant model systems have played an important role in understanding plant biology that leads to economic trait development in crops. The most highly developed plant model system is *Arabidopsis* because of its small size, rapid life cycle, small genome, and transformability. MicroTom is a miniature dwarf determinate tomato cultivar, originally bred for home gardening purposes, which shares the major features with *Arabidopsis* that make it successful as a model system, including small size (up to 1357 plants/m<sup>2</sup>), short life cycle (70-90 days from sowing to fruit-ripening), relatively small genome (950 Mb) and transformability. In this article we review the current status of the genetic transformation, genome sequencing, functional genomics, reverse genetic tools and improvement of fruit nutrition and flavor quality in MicroTom/tomato, which provides a vision of a new plant model system for functional genomics and its application to economic trait development for crops.

Keywords: functional genomics, high-throughput, metabolite database, reverse genetics, transformation

# CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	167
TOMATO GENETIC TRANSFORMATION	
Transformation of regular tomato genotypes	168
Transformation of Micro-Tomato genotypes	169
Tomato plastid transformation	169
TOMATO GENOME SEQUENCING	170
TOMATO FUNCTIONAL GENOMICS	171
REVERSE GENETICS APPROACHES USING MICROTOM	172
Insertional mutagenesis by T-DNA and transposons	
T-DNA tagging	172
Transposon tagging	
RNAi and miRNA silencing in tomato through stable transformation	173
Transient methods	
Agrobacterium-infiltration	173
Virus Induced Gene Silencing (VIGS)	173
Physical and chemical mutagenesis in MicroTom	173
Fast neutron mutagenesis	
TILLING	174
Creating MicroTom EMS mutant library	174
Detecting unknown mutations	
Linking mutation to phenotype	175
IMPROVEMENT OF FRUIT NUTRITION AND FLAVOR QUALITY	176
CONCLUSION	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	177
REFERENCES	177

# INTRODUCTION

Tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum*) is a member of the family Solanaceae that includes more than 3000 species and is the third most economically important plant taxa, exceeded only by the grasses and legumes. The family contains several important crop species such as tomato, potato, pepper, and eggplant as well as ornamental plants such as petunia and Nicotiana. Tomato is a major vegetable crop throughout the world, with an annual production of approximately 108 million metric tons in 2002 (FAS/USDA 2003). Due to its importance as a human food source and its biological features like relatively small genome and transformability, tomato has long served as a model system for plant genetics,

Received: 30 April, 2007. Accepted: 14 August, 2007.



Fig. 1 A MicroTom plant in a pot.

development, pathology, and physiology, resulting in the accumulation of substantial information regarding its biology.

Plant model systems have played an important role in understanding plant biology. Arabidopsis is the most successful plant model system because of its small size, rapid life cycle, small genome, and transformability (Meyerowitz and Sommerville 1994; Meinke et al. 1998). MicroTom is a miniature dwarf determinate tomato cultivar, originally bred for home gardening purposes (Scott and Harbaugh 1989) (Fig. 1). It differs from standard tomato cultivars primarily by two recessive genes, which confer the dwarf phenotype (Meissner et al. 1997). MicroTom shares some features with Arabidopsis that make it successful as a model system, such as small size (up to 1357 plants/m<sup>-2</sup>), short life cycle (70-90 days from sowing to fruit-ripening), and small genome (950 Mb). In addition MicroTom possesses some unique and useful features. Tomato is susceptible to a wide range of pathogens (Webb et al. 1973). For example, MicroTom is susceptible to Phytophthora infestans (Rommens 2000; Dan et al. 2001), but the susceptibility to P. infestans has not been reported in Arabidopsis. Therefore MicroTom has unique potential as a susceptible model system to study certain types of plant disease. MicroTom responds to glyphosate, an herbicide, in a similar manner as cotton, particularly with respect to reproductive tolerance, and therefore has been used as a model plant to study glyphosate tolerance (Sidorova et al. 2001). Because of reasonable size of MicroTom's fruits compared with the very tiny size of Arabidopsis seeds, MicroTom has an advantage to be a model system to study the yield trait. MicroTom has been used as a model system to dissect tomato molecular genetics through techniques such as mutagenesis, and gene tagging, trapping and knockouts (Meissner et al. 1997; Mathews et al. 2003). Recently, tremendous progresses in genetic transformation, genome sequencing, functional genomics, reverse genetic tools and improvement of fruit nutrition and flavor quality in MicroTom/tomato further provide a great value for using MicroTom as a new plant model system for functional genomics and economic trait development in crops.

### TOMATO GENETIC TRANSFORMATION

### Transformation of regular tomato genotypes

Most of tomato transformation methods use *Agrobacterium tumeficiens*. Since the first report of tomato transformation (McCormick *et al.* 1986), there have been numerous publications on the progress of tomato *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation (Koornneef *et al.* 1986; Fillatti *et al.* 1987; Hinchee *et al.* 1994; Vidya *et al.* 2000; Hu and Phillips 2001; Krasnyanski *et al.* 2001; Park *et al.* 2003). To date,

the majority of transformation frequencies ranging from 0.72% to 37% for regular tomato genotypes have been reported (Hamza and Chupeau 1993; van Roekel *et al.* 1993; Frary and Earle 1996; Ling *et al.* 1998; Jiang *et al.* 1999; Vidya *et al.* 2000; Hu and Phillips 2001; Park *et al.* 2003; Shahriari *et al.* 2006).

Different factors were found to play important roles in tomato transformation. They were Agrobacterium cell density (Murray et al. 1998; Velcheva et al. 2005), regeneration parameters including explant types and plant growth regulators, and co-cultivation conditions (Chyi and Phillips 1987; Frary and Earle 1996; Murray et al. 1998; Costa et al. 2000; Drori and Altman 2001; Hu and Phillips 2001), acetosyringone and cell competence after wounding (Davis et al. 1991; Murray et al. 1998), selective agents and gene constructs (Krasnyanski et al. 2001). Cotyledons have been the common explant source in tomato transformation (Shahin et al. 1986; Fillati et al. 1987; Hamza and Chupeau 1993; van Roekel et al. 1993; Ultzen et al. 1995; Frary and Earle 1996; Ling et al. 1998; Hu and Phillips 2001; Ellul et al. 2003; Park et al. 2003), but transgenic plants were also generated from stem segments (Chyi and Phillips 1987), hypocotyls (Frary and Earle 1996; Park et al. 2003) and leaves (Koornneef et al. 1986; McCormick et al. 1986; Jacobs and Yoder 1989; Park et al. 2003). Different concentrations of BAP, IAA, NAA and zeatin were used for tomato direct shoot regeneration in the studies described above. The neomycin phosphotransferase II (*nptII*) gene, which confers resistance to kanamycin, was mostly used for selection of stable transformants for tomato transformation. However one alternative approach utilized mannose as a selective agent (Sigareva et al. 2004) because many plants cannot utilize mannose as a carbohydrate source, and such cells will not grow when cultured on mannose containing media. However, when cells are transformed with the phosphomannose isomerase (PMI) gene, they are able to survive by utilizing mannose as a carbohydrate. Average transformation frequencies ranging from 2.0 to 15.5% for three tomato varieties were obtained when using 1% mannose in combination with 0.1-0.5% glucose depending on the construct, genotype and type of tissue used for transformation. Carbenicillin and cefotaxime have been commonly used as effective antibiotics for elimination or suppression of Agro*bacterium* cells for tomato transformation described above. They have a broad spectrum of activities against bacteria, but a low toxicity to eukaryotes. However both carbenicillin and cefotaxime reduced callus growth, shoot regeneration and transformation efficiency when using cefotaxime at 500 mg/l and carbenicillin at 250-1000 mg/l (Lin et al. 1995; Vergauwe et al. 1996; Nauerby et al. 1997). Therefore, Timentin was used as an alternative for growth suppression of Agrobacterium cells for tomato (Vergauwe et al. 1996; Cheng et al. 1998; Ling et al. 1998). Timentin is a semisynthetic antibiotic widely used in human and animal clinics to inhibit gram-positive, gram-negative, aerobic and anaerobic bacteria. Timentin is a mixture of ticarcillin and clavulanic acid. Another alternative antibiotic for suppressing Agrobacterium cells during tomato transformation is Augmentin<sup>®</sup> (Ieamkhang and Chatchawankanphanich 2005). The efficiency of Augmentin compared with Timentin to suppress the growth of Agrobacterium was at concentrations of 300 and 100 mg/l, respectively. In addition, the high concentration up to 500 mg /1 of both antibiotics showed no significant toxicity to shoot regeneration. The overgrowth of Agrobacterium was observed on tomato shoots regenerated on medium containing cefotaxime even at high concentration up to 500 mg/1. Moreover, shoot regeneration from medium containing cefotaxime was lower than the one from medium containing Timentin and Augmentin. Augmentin at the concentration of 300 mg/l with fresh preparation prior to use was recommended for tomato transformation (leamkhang and Chatchawankanphanich 2005).

### **Transformation of Micro-Tomato genotypes**

Agrobacterium-mediated transformation method for Micro Tom was first reported by Meissner *et al.* (1997), but no details on the transformation experiments were described although up to 80% of transformation frequencies were reported. Mathews *et al.* (2003) reported an Agrobacteriummediated MicroTom transformation method with transformation rates of 40 to 60% using leaves, stems, hypocotyls and shoot tips as starting explants followed by kanamycin selection. However there were no details on the transformation protocol development.

A new tomato genotype (Micro-MsK), which possess high regeneration capacity, and small size and short life cycle, has been developed by crossing MicroTom with MsK genotype (Lima et al. 2004). MsK genotype derived from Lycopersicon peruvianum (Koornneef et al. 1986) has high regeneration capacity, which was attributed to two loci, named Rg-1 and Rg-2 (Koornneef et al. 1987). Apparently, regeneration from root explants and callus is controlled by the same loci, although the behavior of some MsK lines suggested that one dominant allele at one locus can be sufficient for shoot regeneration from root explants (Koornneef et al. 1993). Stable and non-segregating F6 plants of this genotype have higher regeneration ability than MicroTom. Regeneration capacities of cotyledon and hypocotyl explants were tested for Micro-MsK and MicroTom. No significant differences were found regarding the percentage of regenerating explants when comparing cotyledon explants from the two genotypes 15 days after culturing. However, the percentage of regenerating Micro-MsK hypocotyls explants was significantly (P < 0.001) higher than those from MicroTom. About 73% of the hypocotyls from Micro-MsK regenerated into shoots in comparison to 12% of the Micro Tom under the same conditions. When the number of shoots formed per explant was compared, Micro-MsK had better response for both types of explants. The regeneration capacity of Micro-MsK was four times (300%) higher than that of MicroTom. The observation that Micro-MsK genotype is superior to Micro-Tom in terms of regeneration capacity when the explants are hypocotyls but not cotyledons, may provide a hypothesis in order to understand the physiological function of the Rg-1 locus. The presence of Rg-1allele seems to be sufficient for high regeneration from hypocotyl and root explants but not from cotyledons or callus (Koornneef et al. 1993). Since hypocotyl and root explants have pre-existing meristematic cells, while cotyledons and callus don't, the Rg-1 allele appears to act in meristems, but it may not be sufficient to enhance the induction of new meristems. The observation that the shoot formation in MsK roots is in the pericycle (Peres et al. 2001), a meristematic tissue, supports this hypothesis. However, since Micro-MsK is not near-isogenic to MicroTom, these assumptions need to be further tested. Previous study by Peres's group showed that the presence of Rg-2 locus was necessary for high regeneration from cotyledon explants (Lima et al. 2004). Therefore, the Micro-MsK probably lacks the Rg-2 locus. Micro-MsK will be useful in understanding molecular mechanisms for plant regeneration pathway via tissue culture and as well as exploring functional genomics in tomato by insertional mutagenesis.

A high-throughput *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation model system, which used both *nptII* (*neomycin phosphotransferase* II) and *cp4* (the 5-enolpyruvylshikimate-3-phosphate synthase) genes, has been developed in MicroTom (Dan *et al.* 2006). With the NPTII selection system, transformation frequency calculated as independent transgenic events per inoculated explant ranged from 24 to 80% with an average of 56%, in industrial production scale transformation experiments. For CP4, with glyphosate selection, the average transformation frequency was 57%. Stable transformation frequency was positively correlated with transient expression (R=0.85), and variable with the genes of interest. DNA integration and germline transformation were confirmed by biological assay, Southern blot analysis and R<sub>1</sub> phenotype segregation. Transgene expression was observed in leaf, root, stem, flower and fruit tissues of the transgenic plants. Ninety-five percent of transgenic events co-expressed two introduced genes based on  $\beta$ -glucuronidase (GUS) and NPTII expression. Seventy-five percent of transgenic events contained 1 to 2 copies of the introduced *uidA* (GUS) gene based on Southern analysis. Transgenic plants from the cotyledon explants to the transgenic plants transferred to soil were produced within about two to three months depending on the genes of interest. This MicroTom transformation system possesses five elements of a high throughput transformation system: 1) large scale production capability with an average transformation frequency of 56% for both kanamycin and glyphosate selections, 2) rapid production cycle, which took 2 to 3 months from cotyledon explants to transgenic plants which were ready to soil depending on the gene constructs, 3) minimal production complexity, which had a simple protocol with three single steps (shoot induction usually without callus phase, shoot elongation and rooting) and no sub-culture transfer to fresh medium in each step, 4) inexpensive DNA delivery-method, which was Agrobacterium-mediated transformation and 5) high quality of transgenic plants with high co-expression and low copy number (Dan et al. 2006).

Sun et al. (2006) reported a highly efficient Agrobacterium-mediated transformation protocol for MicroTom. Cotyledon explants from 7- to 10-day-old seedlings were inoculated with A. tumefaciens C58C1RifR harboring pIG121-Hm. The explants were placed on co-cultivation medium with the abaxial side down, and incubated in the dark for 3-4 d. The explants were then sub-cultured in callus induction medium containing 100 mg/1 kanamycin, 1.5 mg/l zeatin and 375 mg/l Augmentin. Transgenic callus initiation was observed 2-3 weeks after inoculation. After 3-4 weeks, calli with small shoot buds were induced from the cut end of the explants. The explants generated a mass of chimeric nontransgenic and transgenic adventitious buds. Repeated shoot elongation from the mass of adventitious buds on selection media resulted in the production of multiple transgenic plants that originated from independent transformation events. The transformation efficiency was 48.8%

A transient transformation method using MicroTom, which was named fruit agroinjection, has been developed by Orzaez et al. (2006). MicroTom fruits at mature green stage (22-25 days after anthesis) were agroinjected with *Agrobacterium* strains LBA4404 harboring a plasmid pBIN-YFP/GUS containing yellow fluorescence protein (YFP) and GUS genes directed by the 35S promoter using a 1-ml syringe. Needle was introduced 3 to 4 mm in depth into the fruit tissue through the stylar apex, and the infiltration solution was gently injected into the fruit. High levels of glucuronidase activity were detected in agroinjected fruits 4 days after agroinfiltration. GUS activity decreased thereafter until ripening. At ripen stages (9 days post injection), measurement of GUS activity using standard techniques was unreliable probably due to endogenous activity. Under UV light, high levels of yellow fluorescence were clearly visible around the placenta tissue of 4 days post injection fruits. Confocal microscopy confirmed nucleocytoplasmic localization of plant expressed YFP. The fruit agroinjection method was applied to three case studies, including 1) the heat shock regulation of an Arabidopsis thaliana promoter, 2) the production of recombinant IgA antibodies as an example of molecular farming, and 3) the virus-induced gene silencing of the carotene biosynthesis pathway. The studies showed that this technology was efficient as a tool for fast transgene expression in tomato fruits.

### Tomato plastid transformation

Chloroplast transformation provides unique advantages in plant biotechnology, including high level protein expression of target genes, absence of epigenetic effects, and no transgene transmission through pollens. However, a wide application of plastid genome engineering in biotechnology has been largely restricted by both the lack of chloroplast transformation systems for major crops and the low plastid gene expression in non green tissues such as fruits, tubers, and other storage organs. Ruf et al. (2001) have for the first time developed a plastid transformation system for tomato. Young sterile leaves from 3 to 4 week old tomato plants were bombarded with plasmid DNA-coated gold particles of 0.6 µm diameter using the DuPont PDS1000He biolistic gun and 1,100 p.s.i. rupture disks. The plasmid DNA contained a chimeric aadA gene driven by the rRNA operon promoter. Bombarded leaf samples were transferred to RMOP medium containing spectinomycin (300-500 mg/l), and incubated under dim light (25 µE; 16 h light, 8 h dark) for three to four months. Primary spectinomycin-resistant lines were identified as yellow or pale green growing calli. For plant regeneration, homoplasmic callus tissue was transferred onto the surface of agar-solidified MS medium containing 0.2 mg/l IAA and 3 mg/l BAP. Alternatively, shoot induction was obtained with the same medium, but 2 mg/l zeatin to replace BAP. It took approximately two years to produce the first ripe transplastomic tomatoes from the biolistic bombardment of the leaves. There were four important parameters that were required for the successful transformation of tomato chloroplasts, including 1) the use of extreme low-light conditions (25  $\mu$ E) during the entire selection phase, 2) the extension of the primary selection phase to three or four months compared with three to five weeks in tobacco, 3) the small size (optimal size  $3 \times 3$  mm) of the leaf pieces exposed to the tissue culture medium during primary selection as compared to tobacco plastid transformation and 4) the optimization of the selection and plant regeneration scheme. This study shows that chromoplasts in the tomato fruit express the transgene to  $\sim 50\%$  of the expression levels in leaf chloroplasts. Since the generally very high foreign protein accumulation in transgenic chloroplasts (>40% of the total soluble protein), this system provide a great potential to efficiently produce edible vaccines, pharmaceuticals, and antibodies in tomato.

# TOMATO GENOME SEQUENCING

Currently genome sequencing of three plant species, Arabidopsis (Arabidopsis Genome Initiative 2000), rice (International Rice Genome Sequencing Project, 2005) and poplar (Tuskan 2006), has been completed or nearly completed, while genome sequencing of several other plant species, including maize, *Lotus japonicus*, and *Medicago truncatula*, is under way. Comparing to the above sequenced or to be sequenced species, which are from rosid and monocot clade on the family tree of flowering plants, Solanaceae represent a distinct and phylogenetically distant set of clades, euasterid I and euasterid II (Soltis *et al.* 1999). Sequencing of Solanaceae genomes will provide an excellent opportunity for comparative genomics to unveil distinct and common aspects of plant evolution.

The Solanaceae family is unique in that there have been no large-scale duplication events (e.g. polyploidy) early in the radiation of this family as most Solanaceae species have the same basic chromosome number (x = 12) and are diploid. EST (Expressed Sequenced Tag) and cDNA microarray analysis indicated that the coding region among different Solanaceae species is well conserved (Rensink et al. 2005; Shanna et al. 2005). In addition, comparative sequence analysis of a set of selected BACs (Bacterial Artificial Chromosomes) and comparative genetic linkage map analysis (Doganlar et al. 2002) indicated a high conservation both at microsynteny (gene content and order) and macrosynteny (genome structure) levels among different Solanaceae species. Despite highly similar in gene content, the Solanaceae species show markedly different phenotypes, making the family an ideal system to explore the basis of diversity and adaptation. The highly conserved microsynteny and macrosynteny amongst Solanaceae family allow us to select a reference for genome sequencing. The resulted high quality reference genome sequences will enable us to

predict regions between genomes that are identical by descent and to study the evolution of sequence and function of orthologous genes. Tomato has been selected as the reference genome for sequencing due to its moderate genome size, the availability of large collections of mutants and inbred lines, being a model system for fleshy fruit development and ripening, more general plant genetics, disease response and numerous aspects of physiology, and having a wealth of genomics and functional genomics resources.

Tomato genome comprises of 12 chromosomes and has a size of 950 Mb (Arumuganathan and Earle 1991), which is approximately six times of Arabidopsis genome (157 Mb; Bennett et al. 2003). Approximately 75% of tomato genomic DNA is in the pericentric heterochromatin region which is rich in repetitive sequences and largely devoid of genes. The largely continuously stretches of gene-rich euchromatin, which correspond to less than 25% (~220 Mb; 1.4 times of Arabidopsis genome) of the genome and sit on the distal portion of each chromosome, contains mostly single or low copy sequences and more than 90% of the estimated 35,000 tomato genes (van der Hoeven et al. 2002). Instead of sequencing the 950 Mb of whole tomato genome, a strategy to sequence a minimal tiling path (MTP) of BAC clones through only the 220 Mb euchromatin has been employed by the tomato genome sequencing consortium. This strategy has been proved to be successful in sequencing the Medicago trancatula genome (http://www.medicago.org/ genome). Compared to the whole genome shot-gun or the methyl-filtration sequencing approach, in which gene order would be largely lost, the strategy of sequencing a tiling path through the euchromatin will allow recover both gene content and gene order information, while at the same time it remains cost-effective. As a reference genome of the Solanaceae family, it is essential to retain gene order information for tomato. Having gene order information will help us to predict both gene content and gene order in other solanaceous species and related taxa connected through comparative genetic maps, to facilitate positional cloning in solanaceous species, and to allow the organization of tomato genome to be compared with other sequenced organisms (SOL initiative white paper; http://www.sgn.cornell.edu/ solanaceae-project/).

Currently the tomato genome is being sequenced by an international consortium which includes 10 different countries, including USA (chromosome 1, 10, 11), South Korea (chromosome 2), China (chromosome 3), UK (chromosome 4), India (chromosome 5), The Netherlands (chromosome 6), France (chromosome 7), Japan (chromosome 8), Spain (chromosome 9) and Italy (chromosome 12). As described above, a BAC-by-BAC approach was chosen to sequence the euchromatin region of the tomato genome. Three BAC libraries, HindIII (15X coverage), MboI (7X), and EcoRI (9X), are now available for BAC selection and extension. Approximately 95,000 BACs from HindIII library, 50,000 from MboI and 50,000 from EcoRI have been deep sequenced from both ends, which generated more than 330,000 sequences. In addition, an ordered tomato fosmid genomic library with an average insert size of 40 kb and a minimum of 200,000 clones (8X coverage) is being created which will be used to fill less-than-BAC size gaps during tomato genome sequencing. These clones will also be sequenced from both ends. An ultra-high density tomato genetic map, based on a S. pennellii and S. lycopersicum F2 population, has been extended to more than 4000 markers. Over 800 genes from this map were screened as overgo probes on the tomato HindIII BAC library, of which 700 markers have been unambiguously anchored to the highdensity map. An additional 250 anchored BACs have been identified through BAC end sequence analysis. From these anchored points, a total of 950 seed BACs were identified, which serve as starting points for tomato sequencing. A minimum tiling path will be generated by extending the seed BAC in both directions using the deep BAC end sequence information and the fingerprinted contig (FPC) map information, which is currently available for HindIII and MboI libraries. Recently, Syngenta mapped 17,000 BACs, which represent a total of 763 anchored BAC contigs, to the bin positions of S. pennellii introgression lines. This is a valuable resource which will help to facilitate new seed BAC identification and BAC extension to generate MTP. FISH analysis is used to localize BACs near the euchromatin/heterochromatin boundaries and near telomeres, to define the size of gaps in sequenced DNA, and to confirm the proper tiling path extension. As of July 2007, approximately 28% of the tomato euchromatin has been sequenced and the sequencing of the whole tomato euchromatin is expected to be completed in 2009. Besides the euchromatin, the plastid genome of tomato has been sequenced (Kahlau et al. 2006) and sequencing the mitochondrial genome is underway. The genome sequences of these organelles will provide much information on their gene structure and evolution.

### **TOMATO FUNCTIONAL GENOMICS**

Although complete genome sequences can provide a wealth of information on gene structure and its physical position on the genome and give us new insights into areas such as genome content, architecture and organization, they do not tell us the expression of genes under different conditions and developmental stages and how genes work together to comprise functioning cells and organisms. The development of a complex organism and its interaction with the environment are mostly related to dynamic changes of gene activities, which lead to downstream changes of protein activity and metabolite accumulation, and ultimately phenotype changes. Investigating the dynamics of transcriptome, proteome, metabolome, and/or phenome and their interactions and relationships is the basis of functional genomics.

In recent years, rapid progresses have been made in the area of functional genomics, both theoretically and technologically. In tomato, most functional genomics studies focused on transcriptome and its dynamics. As a basis, a large collection of ESTs has been generated to capture the sequence information of tomato transcriptome. Currently, the collection contains ~250,000 ESTs which represent ~35,000 unigenes (http://www.sgn.cornell.edu). ESTs are created by partially sequencing randomly isolated gene transcripts that have been converted into cDNA and cloned (Adams et al. 1991). ESTs have been successfully applied to accelerating gene discovery including gene family expansion, elucidating phylogenetic relationships, building physical and genetic maps, inferring intron-exon boundaries and identifying alternative spliced and polyadenylated transcripts, and facilitating large-scale gene expression analysis (reviewed in Rudd 2003). It has been proved that the occurrence of ESTs from non-normalized, non-subtracted cDNA libraries represents the relative expression of genes from which the ESTs are derived. Through the comprehensive analysis of a large public tomato EST dataset which contains ~150,000 ESTs from 27 different tissues representing a range of developmental programs and biological responses, a global coordinated gene expression atlas was created for 6,758 genes, and a number of tissue specific genes and genes differentially expressed during various developmental programs such as fruit and flower development and upon different biological responses such as pathogen challenges were able identified (Fei et al. 2004). In addition, through comparative analysis of tomato and grape EST collections, Fei et al. (2004) were able to identify common regulators induced by ripening process of both tomato (a climacteric fruit) and grape (a non-climacteric fruit), which provided new insights into molecular mechanisms of fruit ripening processes. Using EST as an approach of expression profiling in tomato has advantages over microarray in that microarray suffers from the cross-hybridization of closely related sequences. However, the overall effort and cost of EST sequencing are major hurdles of this approach. This situation might be changed soon due to recent advances of new sequencing technologies. One such technology is 454 sequencing by

synthesis technology (Margulies *et al.* 2005), which can generate 400,000 ESTs with an average length of 250-300 base pairs in a single 7.5-hour instrument run. In addition, 454 sequencing does not require labor intensive cloning effort and its cost can be reduced by more than 10 fold when compared to conventional Sanger technology. The continuing advances of new sequencing technologies combining with the rapid progress of bioinformatics tools make it possible to use deep EST sequencing approach as a general tool in tomato for expression profiling analysis in the future while currently microarray technology is still dominant in gene expression analysis.

A tomato cDNA array (named TOM1 array) which contains ~13,000 unique spots representing 8,500 tomato unigenes, and later a long oligo-nucleotide array (named TOM2 array) containing ~12,000 tomato unigenes were generated based on the large public tomato EST collection (Alba et al. 2004; http://bti.cornell.edu/CGEP/CGEP.html). These two publicly available arrays along with other homemade tomato cDNA arrays have been used extensively to investigate gene expression profiling among different genotypes, during various developmental processes, and during responses to different environmental stimuli such as biotic or abiotic stresses. A milestone of such analyses is the creation of gene expression maps during the fruit development and ripening of a wild type tomato and a tomato mutant (Never-ripe [Nr]), which contains a mutation in an ethylene receptor, consequently has a reduced ethylene sensitivity and fails to ripen completely (Alba et al. 2005). A total of 869 genes that are differentially expressed in wild type tomato developing pericarp were identified and the expression of 37% of them was altered in Nr mutant (Alba et al. 2005). Further comparison of expression patterns for genes encoding enzymes in fruit development pathways to the measured products of said pathways (e.g., ethylene, carote-noids, and ascorbate) identified novel fruit development regulatory points influenced by ethylene (Alba et al. 2005).

In an assay of comparing transcriptomic changes in six fruit introgression lines producing fruit with elevated Brix were selected from a population of 76 lines carrying defined introgressions from *S. pennellii* in a *S. lycopersicum* background (Zamir IL lines; Eshed and Zamir 1994). Baxter *et al.* (2005) were able to identify candidate genes which helped to reveal underlying regulatory mechanisms of fruit metabolism that lead to high Brix.

Microarray technology has also been successfully applied to investigate tomato responses to endogenous or environmental stimuli. For example, to investigate the molecular roles of the type III secretion system (TTSS) effectors in disease formation, Cohn and Martin (2005) used TOM1 array to analyze the transcriptome changes of a susceptible tomato host in response to wild-type Pseudomonas syringae pv. tomato strain DC3000 and a mutant lacking a functional TTSS. They were able to identify 306 differentially expressed genes and many of them encode proteins associating with hormone response or hormone biosynthesis pathways (Cohn and Martin 2005). Similarly, by monitoring host transcriptional changes in response to the TTSS effector proteins AvrPto and AvrPtoB, they found both effectors induced a set of genes involved in ethylene biosynthesis and signaling (Cohn and Martin 2005).

Currently a tomato Affymetrix array which contains ~10,000 probe sets representing approximately 8,000 unique tomato genes is available (http://www.affymetrix.com/). However, this array has not gained much popularity in tomato community probably due to its high cost and low number of genes on the array.

A tomato expression database (TED; http://ted.bti. cornell.edu) has been developed (Fei *et al.* 2006), which serves as a central repository for raw gene expression data derived from public tomato arrays in addition to archive various normalized and processed gene expression data derived either from microarray analysis or digital (EST occurrence) analysis. A set of tools which facilitate data mining and visualization were implemented in TED (Fei *et al.* 

### 2006).

High-throughput analysis of differential gene expression through tag or microarray approach has been proved to be a powerful tool for gaining information about a certain biological process on a genomic scale. However, some discrepancies between mRNA and its corresponding protein levels can exist. Thus coupling transcriptome with proteome studies will help us to identify post-transcriptional events and lead to better knowledge of gene networks. Unfortunately, currently available reports on tomato proteome analysis are very limited. Rocco et al. (2006) performed a comparative proteomic analysis on tomato fruits from a regional and commercial elite ecotype during maturation. A number of constitutive and differentially expressed proteins were identified in both varieties. Recently Faurobert et al. (2007) generated the proteome maps at six developmental stages during cherry tomato pericarp development and ripening using 2-DE and MS approaches. They identified a total of 1,791 distinct spots from 2-DE gels, of which 148 spots were significantly variable during pericarp development and ripening. When comparing the proteome results to the previously published transcriptome results, some discrepancies were noted, indicating certain genes undergo posttranscriptional modifications (Faurobert et al. 2007).

Currently more and more studies on tomato focus on metabolome analysis. Schauer et al. (2006) investigated the content of 74 known metabolites including amino and organic acids, sugars, sugar alcohols, fatty acids and vitamins C and E, in the Zamir IL lines in two different seasons. Using a combined metabolite profiling and phenotypic analysis, they were able to identify correlations among numerous metabolites and important fruit quality and yield traits of tomato. In a recent study, Carrari et al. (2006) investigated the changes of abundance of a broad range of metabolites, as well as transcriptome changes, during tomato fruit development and ripening. Several distinct patterns of metabolite profiles during fruit development were identified. They also identified some correlations between specific transcripts and metabolites, of which several new associations could provide potential targets for manipulation of fruit composition traits.

To study gene function, a comprehensive and saturated mutant population is indispensable. Mutants of tomato have been collected over several decades and currently 1,017 monogenic stocks (at 622 loci) are catalogued in the C.M. Rick Tomato Genetics Resource Center (http://tgrc.ucdavis. edu/). Recently, a large tomato mutant library containing a total of 13,000 M<sub>2</sub> families was developed through EMS and fast-neutron mutagenesis (Menda *et al.* 2004; http:// zamir. sgn.cornell.edu/mutants). All these mutants add a great value to tomato functional genomics. Once an interesting mutant is identified, the integration of phenomics data with data sets from transcriptome, proteome and metabolome analyses will help to obtain a clear picture of the mutant gene function.

### REVERSE GENETICS APPROACHES USING MICROTOM

Reverse genetics approaches aim at determining the function of a target gene in the context of a plant by analyzing the phenotype of the plant showing allelic gene variations for that gene. Various strategies can be used to evaluate the physiological function of a target gene in a plant and/or its effect on an agronomical trait. Target gene can be inactivated by insertional mutagenesis with mobile elements (transposons) or with T-DNA transferred from *Agrobacterium*, by deletion mutagenesis with physical agents (fast neutrons, X-rays; reviewed by Tadege and Mysore 2006; Wang *et al.* 2006), or by creating truncation mutations (nonsense and splicing site mutations) with chemical agents such as EMS. The EMS-induced point mutations may also alter the function of the protein encoded by the target gene (loss-of-function or gain-of-function mutations) as a result of a change in amino acid identity and function due to a missense mutation. The T-DNA or transposons inserted into a plant genome may also carry transcriptional enhancers that induce over-expression of genes in their vicinity (activation-tagging) or reporter genes that are expressed when inserted under the control of regulatory elements in the genome (promoter- or enhancer-traps). Several other approaches rely on transient gene inactivation or over-expression in various organs of a plant. Towards this end, different technologies using *Agrobacterium* injection or virus infection (Virus Induced Gene Silencing or VIGS) have been developed for transient expression assays.

# Insertional mutagenesis by T-DNA and transposons

### T-DNA tagging

In Arabidopsis and rice, insertional mutagenesis by T-DNA tagging has proved to be a powerful tool for high throughput gene discovery and functional analysis of target genes. Several populations of tens of thousand of mutagenized plants can be screened by PCR or simply by BLAST search for identifying knockout mutants in given target genes, as reviewed in Ostergraard and Yanofsky (2004). The phenotype of several independent mutants, often in different ecotypes, can thus be analyzed in order to decipher the functional role of the target gene in the plant. However, very large numbers of mutagenized plants are needed to reach near saturation of the collection (Krysan et al. 1999) in order to increase the probability of finding loss-of-function mutants in all the genes. In Arabidopsis, for example, the probability of achieving an insertion mutant in a gene less than 1 kb is less than approximately 60% for a collection of 100,000 lines (Ostergraard and Yanofsky 2004). Another disadvantage is that insertional mutagenesis of T-DNA or of any other element (e.g. transposon) leads to complete loss of gene function, in contrast to chemical mutagenesis that creates allelic series.

Average gene length is longer in tomato than in Arabidopsis (van der Hoeven et al. 2002), increasing thus the probability to hit a target gene by insertional mutagenesis in tomato. However, given the size of the tomato genome (950 Mb compared to 157 Mb in Arabidopsis) and the absence of very high throughput transformation technologies in this species, the task of producing a near saturation tomato mutant collection by insertional mutagenesis with T-DNA remains challenging. To our knowledge, an unique collection of more than 10,000 activation-tagging transgenic lines has been created in tomato, using MicroTom as a model because this cultivar is suited for high-throughput mutagenesis. Since the activation-tagging strategy used is based on the insertion of T-DNA in tomato genome, it can also produce loss-of-function mutants resulting from the integration of a T-DNA in coding or regulatory regions of a gene. In this collection, the lines over-expressing tomato genes under the control of a transcriptional enhancer allowed the discovery of genes controlling important agronomic traits such as fruit shape and colour. Among them was a MYB transcription factor controlling anthocyanin biosynthesis, modification and transport, which was identified by analyzing an activation-tagging line over-expressing the ANT1 gene and displaying purple vegetative organs and fruits (Mathews et al. 2003).

### Transposon tagging

Gene inactivation by insertional mutagenesis with mobile elements can be a solution for the overwhelming task of producing the large numbers of transgenic tomato plants by somatic embryogenesis required by T-DNA tagging. Because the mobile elements have the advantage to excise and to reinsert in a nearby gene (Emmanuel and Levy 2002), a lower initial number of transformants are required than for a T-DNA mutagenesis approach. In tomato, the interest of transposon-tagging for gene discovery and functional analysis of target genes was highlighted by the discovery of the Dwarf gene (Bishop et al. 1996), which is actually one of the mutations presented in MicroTom. Since then, several transposon-based insertional mutagenesis strategies have been devised. They mostly rely on the use of transposons from heterologous species such as the non autonomous mobile elements Activator (Ac)/Dissociation (Ds) of maize, which are very effective for creating knockout mutants (Meissner et al. 1997, 2000; Gidoni et al. 2003). A transposon-tagged pilot collection based on this system was developed in MicroTom. The collection included about 3,000 lines carrying 2-3 inserts per line, which represented approximately 7500 Ds insertions (Meissner *el al.* 1997, 2000). In this strategy, only one step of initial transformation by somatic embryogenesis is required to obtain on the one hand lines carrying Ds elements and on the other hand lines carrying transposase (Ac) under the control of a constitutive promoter (CaMV35S). The Ds and Ac lines are then crossed to finally obtain germinally stable transposition: excision, re-insertion and stabilization mutant lines by selecting against transposase. Besides the inactivation of target genes, the vectors used for generating these lines can include other features. For example, the use of promoter-trap and enhancer-trap may allow the identification of organ and tissue-specific promoters (Meissner et al. 2000), which are necessary for functional analysis of candidate genes in tomato. However, despite the increased number of the insertional mutants using mobile elements, the objective of nearsaturation insertional mutagenesis tomato collection remains probably out of reach for most tomato consortiums or companies. Indeed, considering the size of tomato genome, Emmanuel and Levy (2002) estimated that near to 200,000 to 300,000 lines would be necessary to obtain 95% saturation of the tomato genome.

# RNAi and miRNA silencing in tomato through stable transformation

Large scale sequencing of tomato cDNAs allowed the generation of tomato EST databases comprising more than 250,000 ESTs. A large collection of full-length cDNA sequences of MicroTom is publicly available at Kazusa Institute in Japan (http://www.pgb.kazusa.or.jp/kaftom/). In addition, the current tomato sequencing project should allow the identification of the tomato genes in the coming years.

Therefore, new strategies based on the systematic overexpression of target genes or on their silencing by RNA interference (RNAi) or micro RNA (miRNA) (Alavarez et al. 2006) can now be envisaged in tomato. New site-specific recombination-based cloning vectors, which allow efficient and high throughput insertion of inverted repeats of a gene sequence in plant transformation vectors (Karimi et al. 2002; Waterhouse et al. 2003; Karimi et al. 2005), can be used to specifically target a candidate gene or the different members of multigene families. Since silencing often results in a range of more or less severe phenotypes, this strategy can be useful when analyzing large gene families or classes of genes. In addition, new promoters, which drive gene expression in specific organ, tissue or developmental stages in order to silence (RNAi, miRNA) or to over-express target genes, are currently developed in tomato (P Hilson, pers. comm.). Systematic over-expression or silencing of approximately 35,000 genes of tomato (van der Hoeven et al. 2002) still relies on the availability of easy and high throughput transformation protocols in tomato.

### **Transient methods**

#### Agrobacterium-infiltration

Agrobacterium-infiltration or Agrobacterium-injection of various organs of the plant have been used in MicroTom by several groups to silence endogenous genes (Liu *et al.* 2002; Orzaez *et al.* 2006) or to over-express homologous or

heterologous genes in tomato (Orzaez *et al.* 2006). *Agrobacterium* can be used to transfer foreign DNA to plant cells that can be transiently transcribed and translated into active protein (Orzaez *et al.* 2006).

## Virus Induced Gene Silencing (VIGS)

Virus Induced Gene Silencing is an attractive reverse-genetics tool for the study of gene function in tomato. The high throughput functional analysis of genes by VIGS is now possible in tomato using a viral vector based on Tobacco Rattle Virus (TRV). The recombinant TRV infects plants and efficiently induces gene silencing, as has been shown in MicroTom for genes of the ethylene signalling pathway or carotenoid biosynthesis genes (Liu et al. 2002), and in tomato roots and in various Solanaceous species (Brigneti et al. 2004; Tyu et al. 2004). The addition of Gateway recombination system sites to the vector facilitates the cloning of candidate genes to be tested, allowing high throughput screening of candidate genes identified through EST and full-length cDNA sequencing programs. Using these vectors, fruit-specific silencing can be achieved by vacuum infiltration of fruit detached from the plant or by syringe injection to the fruit attached to the plant, allowing the study of fruit development and ripening (Fu et al. 2005). However, one of the current limitations of this approach is that gene silencing is unevenly distributed in the various parts of the fruit, as shown for the ethylene signallingrelated genes in tomato (Fu et al. 2005; Orzaez et al. 2006). As a consequence, unless new technologies and vectors are designed to overcome this limitation, the use of VIGS in tomato fruit will probably remain mostly restricted to genes affecting fruit colour (e.g. ripening-related genes) and the identification of the silenced sectors in the fruit.

#### Physical and chemical mutagenesis in MicroTom

Physical or chemical mutagenesis have been used for decades in tomato to create artificially-induced genetic variability because the generation of large mutant collections is very simple and does not require excessive time and efforts. Artificially-induced mutations have been further exploited for breeding tomato cultivars with improved agronomic traits (FAO Mutant Varieties Database at http://www-mvd. iaea.org/MVD/default.htm). Recent advances in PCR-based methods led to the development of high throughput mutation detection technologies (TILLING, mutants) and the use of tomato mutant collection for reverse genetics approaches.

Chemical agents or ionizing radiations create high density of irreversible mutations ranging from point mutations to very large deletions, depending on the mutagen. Mutation density is independent of the size of the genome, allowing the application of mutagenesis to many crop plants with large genome size, including tomato. As a consequence, only few thousands mutant lines are sufficient to reach genome saturation in tomato, as compared with the hundreds of thousand lines required for T-DNA or transposon-based collections of insertional mutants (Ostergaard and Yanofsky 2004). Moreover, chemical or physical mutagenesis does not require genetic transformation of the plant. The GMOfree plants with improving alleles can thus be included in classical and marker assisted breeding programs for tomato crop improvement.

Several collections of fast-neutron and ethylmethane sulfonate (EMS) mutants have been generated during the recent years in MicroTom (Meissner *et al.* 1997, 2000; Watanabe *et al.* 2007). The mutation detection technologies, which were recently developed such as TILLING (Targeting Induced Local Lesions IN Genomes) using S1-type endonuclease, have been successfully applied to tomato. Therefore, MicroTom mutant collections can now be used for functional genomics and crop improvement.

### Fast neutron mutagenesis

Fast neutron bombardment creates DNA deletions ranging from a few bases to more than 30 kb, resulting in the creation of knockout mutants. Several genes may be removed by large deletions. This can be particularly useful for inactivating duplicated genes with functional redundancy arranged in tandem repeats. On the other hand, when several independent genes are deleted, it can be problematic for the subsequent genetic analyses of the mutants.

Generation of deletion mutant collection by fast neutron is straightforward (Meissner et al. 1997, 2000; Menda et al. 2004). In MicroTom, the optimal radiation doses and corresponding mutation rates have been defined in a pilot study by Meissner et al. (1997), who demonstrated the feasibility and interest of this approach. The collection of MicroTom deletion mutants obtained in this study yielded a large number of mutant showing phenotypic variations affecting vegetative organ, flower and fruit. Some mutants were further characterized, e.g. the tangerine mutant obtained by Meissner et al. (1997) which shows bright orange fruits because of a deletion in carotenoid isomerase gene (Isaacson et al. 2002). Another collection of MicroTom fast-neutron mutants has been recently been created by the Japanese Solanaceae consortium (JSOL) (Watanabe et al. 2007). These results emphasize the potential interest of this strategy for functional studies of target genes in tomato and for improvement of agronomic traits.

In most crops that lack sequence information on target gene and surrounding genomic regions, forward genetics approaches have long been most adapted to isolate mutated alleles in fast neutron mutagenized plant collections. With the current advance of genome sequencing in tomato, high sensitivity PCR-based technologies using pools of thousand deletion lines such as the one devised by Li et al. (2001) should allow the efficient screening of MicroTom deletion mutants. In Arabidopsis, it was estimated that more than 50,000 mutagenized lines would be necessary to reach near saturation of the collection (i.e. 85% of mutated loci). Thus, in the fleshy fruit tomato where harvesting the seeds is a long and time-consuming process, the task of producing a near saturation fast neutron mutant collection that can be used for high throughput reverse genetics remains probably difficult for most research groups.

# TILLING

Targeting Induced Local Lesions in Genomes (TILLING) is a general reverse-genetics strategy first described by McCallum et al. (2000) combining random chemical mutagenesis by ethylmethanesulfonate (EMS) and PCR-based methods for detecting unknown point mutations in target genes. It allows the identification of allelic series including truncation mutations (nonsense and splicing site mutations) that lead to gene inactivation, neutral mutations with no effect on the encoded protein, and missense mutations (Henikoff and Comai 2003). Depending on the function of the amino acid affected by the mutation, the missense mutation in a target gene may either result in the inactivation or in the modification of the function of the encoded protein, leading to loss-of-function or to gain-of-function mutants. This is an advantage when knockout mutations can be lethal for the plant (Diévart and Clark 2003). EMS mutagenesis and TIL-LING have been applied to a large number of plants with diverse genome size and ploidy level (Gilchrist and Haughn 2005; Haughn and Gilchrist 2006), including tomato and more specifically MicroTom because it generates large artificially-induced genetic variability in model crop species and that it allows the identification of unknown mutants.

# **Creating MicroTom EMS mutant library**

The chemical mutagenic agent EMS creates point mutations, which are mostly (>99%) G/C-to-A/T transitions (Greene *et al.* 2003). Similar mutation frequencies are expected regardless of the plant genome size (Korneef *et al.* 1982), as with fast-neutron deletion mutants. Reported mutation densities are however highly variable depending on the species and range from 1 mutation/Mb in barley (Caldwell *et al.* 2004) to 1 mutation/25 kb in tetraploid wheat (Slade *et al.* 2005). According to our own unpublished results, mutation density can reach 1 mutation/125 kb in MicroTom tomato, i.e. in the same range as in *Arabidopsis* (ATP project; Greene *et al.* 2003).

The creation of a MicroTom EMS mutant library for TILLING is detailed in **Fig. 2**. EMS mutagenesis is straightforward and is usually done by soaking overnight the M0 seeds in EMS solution to give the M1 (mutagenized) seeds (Meissner *et al.* 1997). Since the EMS concen-



Fig. 2 Creation of Micro Tom mutant collection and detection of mutated alleles. Seeds (M0) are mutagenized with ethylmethanesulfonate (EMS). Mutagenized M1 seeds are sown to give M1 plants. M2 seeds collected from one given M1 plant are sown to give M2 plants (12 seeds for each M2 family). Phenotypic description of the M2 family is stored in a database. M3 seeds are archived for phenotyping and analysis of M3 plants. DNA is extracted from leaf disks collected from M2 family plants, pooled (8 family DNA pools) and used for mutation detection. Phenotypic analysis of the mutants identified is conducted by using phenotypic description database and analysing M3 plants.

trations may vary considerably depending on plant species and even to the seed batch, initial studies with different EMS concentrations (from 0.2 to 1.5%) are usually carried out before large scale mutagenesis to determine the optimum EMS dose. The objective is to reach the highest mutation rate that allows efficient mutation discovery by TIL-LING without compromising plant survival and fertility. Towards the objective, an EMS dose of 0.8% to 1% is usually used for MicroTom (Meissner et al. 1997; Watanabe et al. 2007; our own unpublished results). Following EMS mutagenesis, up to 50 to 70% of the seeds may not germinate or give viable plantlets and 40 to 50% of the resulting M1 plants can be sterile. Because M1 plants are chimerical as a consequence of somatic mutations in meristematic cells (only two to three cells of the apical meristem will give rise to reproductive tissues), the phenotypic characterization and mutation analysis are conducted using the M2 plants that were obtained by self-crossing the M1 plants (usually 8 to 12 plants per family). The results provide the first hints on the presence of known mutations and the frequency of mutated alleles in the collection. Phenotypic data on Microtom mutant families can further be stored in a phenotypic description database, as developed by Menda et al. (2004) for M82 tomato cultivar (http://www.sgn.cornell. edu/mutants/mutants web/). However, this step is not a prerequisite for the detection of mutated alleles in the collection, though the phenotypic description of M2 mutant families can be useful for identifying mutants for forward genetic approaches or may be helpful for characterizing the function of a target gene once a mutant has been identified by TILLING. Actually, only one or a few plantlets per M2 families are required for DNA extraction to subsequently detect mutations.

### **Detecting unknown mutations**

Several mutation detection technologies are available for detecting unknown point mutations and have been described in detail by Yeung *et al.* (2005) and Comai and Heni-koff (2006). Generally, three major technologies are commonly used.

- (1) Sequencing: it allows a precise and easy identification of point mutations in target genes and becomes more attractive as the price of sequencing decreases. However, it still has limitations, such as the sequencing cost and requirement of screening mutants individually.
- (2) Conformation-based methods: technologies such as denaturing HPLC (dHPLC) and Single Strand Conformational Polymorphism (SSCP) allow the discovery of mutants by detecting the conformational changes induced by point mutations. Their main limitations are the size (<500 bp) of DNA fragment and the size (<4 individual or family pools) of the mutant pools that can be analyzed.
- (3) Enzymatic detection: the most popular technology uses the mismatch detection enzyme CEL1, an endonuclease of the S1 family that detects mismatches and cleaves at the 3' side of the mutation. CEL1 can be readily purified from plants (Colbert *et al.* 2001) and is commercially available (Qiu *et al.* 2004). Cleaved and uncleaved labelled DNA fragments are then separated on a sequencing gel. This technology led to a wide usage of TIL-LING, from *Arabidopsis* to a large number of plants species and even to insects and animals (Henikoff and Comai 2003; Gilchrist and Haughn 2005). It can detect 1 genome in 16 i.e. in eight-fold pool (Comai and Henikoff 2006).

The technology used for high throughput TILLING with CEL1 is very simple. Differentially labelled primers are designed to amplify a DNA fragment of 0.5 to 2 kb of the target gene. Tools such as CODDLE (*Codons Optimized to detect Deleterious Lesions*) software (Henikoff and Comai 2003) have been developed to define the genomic region showing the highest probability of finding severe mutants (knockout or missense mutations). In tomato, however,

knowledge of genomic sequences is usually scarce since sequences available are mostly ESTs. Therefore, amplification of genomic DNA with unlabelled primers is usually conducted before TILLING in order to check the primers. After PCR amplification of the target gene with labelled primers, the formation of DNA homoduplexes and heteroduplexes is triggered by submitting the amplicon to a high temperaturedenaturation/low temperature-reannealing cycle. The heteroduplexes are then cleaved by CEL1 enzyme while homoduplexes are left intact. The cleaved and uncleaved endlabelled DNA fragments are separated by electrophoresis on denaturing gel, usually on LicOR sequencer (Comai and Henikoff 2006) although capillary sequencers can also be used (Caldwell et al. 2004). The use of differentially labelled primers allows the precise location on the gel of the two cleaved fragments and thus the identification of the mutated region in the target gene. To identify the mutant family, the same TILLING approach with CEL1 is applied to perform the deconvolution of the 8 family pools. The identification of the mutation is usually conducted by amplifying and sequencing the mutated allele.

### Linking mutation to phenotype

Point mutations induced by EMS are mostly G/C-to-A/T transitions (Greene *et al.* 2003), which may result in silent mutation (no amino acid change), missense mutations (changes in the encoded amino acid that may be conservative or non-conservative) or truncation (induced by the generation of stop codon or mis-splicing) of the target protein. Experimental TILLING results from *Arabidopsis* (Greene *et al.* 2003) indicated 55% of non silent mutations (5% of truncations and 50% of missense mutations) could affect the biological function of the target protein and hence the phenotype of the plant. The allelic series obtained in EMS mutants range thus from more or less severe mutations), which potentially affect the phenotype of the plant.

Once a mutant family has been detected by TILLING, the phenotype of the plants (usually M3 plants) must be analyzed in order to link the mutation to the phenotype and hence to study the function of the target gene in the plant context. The mutation can also be isolated by successive backcrosses (BC4 to BC6; Henikoff and Comai 2003; Slade et al. 2005). One common objection to the use of TILLING and EMS mutants for functional analysis of target genes is the very high number of mutations that were found in a given mutant collection. Indeed, in most mutant collections, a number of related or unrelated (due to different mutations) phenotypic traits can be observed in a single family. However, as calculated from Arabidopsis TILLING collections (Henikoff and Comai 2003), when the parent M2 plant is heterozygous, the possibility of misattributing a phenotype observed in M3 plants to a mutation in the target gene is only of about 0.05%. Increasing the number of mutated alleles giving rise to the same phenotype is the best way to insure that the phenotypic trait observed is linked to a mutation in the target gene and not to another combination of mutations (Ostergaard and Yanofsky 2004). Given the known frequency of mutations (Greene et al. 2003), an allelic series including at least one knockout mutation and ~10 missense mutations affecting the biological function of the protein should roughly comprise 20 mutated alleles. In the existing Microtom mutant collections, this objective represents between 2,500 to 3,000 mutant families to screen for 1 kb of target gene (unpublished results), a screening that can be performed in a short period of time. In conclusion, because of the wide range of mutated alleles and phenotypic variations detected, TILLING allows the discovery of allelic series and is highly informative for understanding the functional role of a target. In addition, TILLING allows the functional analysis of target genes for which severe mutations are lethal.

## IMPROVEMENT OF FRUIT NUTRITION AND FLAVOR QUALITY

Fruit flavor and nutrition composition have clear and profound potential for positive human benefit. Nutritive compounds include various antioxidants, vitamins, minerals, fiber, lipids and amino acids, which have direct impact to human health while the modification of fruit flavor, may lead to improved health via increased fruit or vegetable consumption. The nutritional importance of fruit and vegetables is reflected in current USDA recommendations of five or more servings of fruit or vegetables a day for a healthy diet. The World Health Organization and the United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) recently launched an effort to enhance fruit and vegetable consumption worldwide as low consumption is considered one of the top ten contributing factors to human mortality (http:// www.fao.org/english/newsroom/news/2003/24439-en.html).

Fruit flavor and nutrition have proved to be difficult traits to modify through traditional breeding. Consumers recognize that commercially available tomatoes often leave much to be desired when it comes to flavor. Plant breeders have traditionally ignored flavor due to its genetic complexity and the tomato has suffered from this neglect. Tomato flavor is due to a complex and poorly understood interaction between sugars, acids and ~16 volatile compounds (Table 1). These volatiles can have concentration-dependent positive or negative effects on flavor. Currently little is known about the genes involved in either synthesis or regulation of most of the volatiles. In the case of nutritional compounds such as carotenoids, much is known of the synthetic steps and their corresponding genes, yet little is know regarding the molecular nature of pathway regulation. Identification of genes controlling volatile levels and nutrition pathways would open the door to breeders and biotechnologists for significant quality improvements.

Recent progresses on the fields of genomics, functional genomics and bioinformatics provide us a unique opportunity to dissect the molecular mechanism of fruit nutrition and flavor using an integrative systems approach. As stated previously, a collection of 76 tomato (S. lycopersicon) lines harbor single, defined and overlapping introgressions from the wild species S. pennellii is available. These lines together cover the entire genome of S. pennellii and they demonstrate substantial, reproducible line to line phenotypic variations in many aspects. Profiles of ~20 nutrition-related metabolites that include carotenoids, ascorbate, phenolics and tocopherols, and ~40 flavor-related metabolites that include sugars, acids, soluble solids and a set of fruit volatiles have been investigated in the ripe fruit tissue of the 76 S. pennellii introgression lines and their parent line, M82, from multiple different seasons. Profiles of selected fruit nutrition and flavor-related metabolites have also been generated for another set of introgression lines derived from

 Table 1
 The 16 most significant flavor volatiles of tomato. Adopted from Goff and Klee (2006) with modifications.

Volatile	Precursor	Odor
cis-3-Hexenal	Lipid	tomato/green
β-ionone	carotenoid	fruity/floral
Hexanal	Lipid	green/grassy
β-Damascenone	carotenoid	fruity
1-Penten-3-one	carotenoid	floral/green
2+3-Methylbutanal	Ile/Leu	musty
trans-2-Hexenal	Lipid	green
2-Isobutylthiazole	Leu	tomato vine
1-nitro-2-Phenylethane	Phe	musty, earthy
trans-2-Heptenal	Lipid	green
Phenylacetaldehyde	Phe	floral/alcohol
6-Methyl-5-hepten-2-one	carotenoid	fruity, floral
cis-3-Hexenol	Lipid	green
2-Phenylethanol	Phe	nutty
3-Methylbutanol	Leu	earthy, musty
Methyl salicylate	Phe	wintergreen

wild tomato species, *S. hirsutum* (Monforte and Tanksley 2000). Introgression lines with significant changes in each of the selected metabolites compared to their parent control line were identified. Through this analysis, multiple loci altered in flavor volatile emissions have been discovered (Tieman *et al.* 2006a). In order to identify novel genes involved in or regulating a specific metabolite pathway using systems approaches, gene expression profiling data is also being generated for each *S. pennellii* line using tomato cDNA arrays. Genes significantly changed in each line were identified.

To facilitate correlation of metabolite and gene expression data, we are developing a public online database, Tomato Metabolite Database (TOMET; http://tomet.bti.cornell. edu). Besides metabolite and gene expression data, TOMET includes representative photographs of ripe fruit from each introgression line and lists of analyzed metabolites and related phenotypes. A number of data retrieval and analysis functions have been implemented in TOMET which allow to: 1) sort the introgression lines and control parent according to levels of a selected metabolite in a specific season; 2) identify introgression lines with specific metabolite properties; 3) mine fruit gene expression data for a selected line as a function of expression in the M82 control to identify significantly changes genes; 4) identify gene expression ratios that correlate with accumulation of a selected metabolite in all or a subset of introgression lines for a given trial. Additional tools such as tools to cluster and classify gene expression and/or metabolite profiles are under development. Using the metabolite profiling data and data mining tools currently available in TOMET, Tieman et al. (2006b) successfully identified the first step of biosynthesis pathway of 2-phenylethanol and 2-phenylacetaldehyde, both of which are important to tomato fruit flavor and aroma, through an integrated biochemistry, molecular biology, functional genomics and bioinformatics approach.

One major goal of TOMET is to identify key regulators of fruit flavor and nutrient composition through the integration of genotype, metabolite and gene expression data. Currently, several meaningful or expected correlations can be identified in TOMET (Fig. 3). In the meantime, we have observed a number of novel, significant correlations between metabolite and gene expression. Some genes involved in the correlations are transcription factors, which may be candidate regulators of fruit flavor and nutrition pathways. The relationship between the candidate genes and fruit flavor and nutrition will be characterized by transfer respective genes into tomato plants using the state-of-the-art RNA interference (RNAi) technology. By identifying the key regulators that control the flavor and nutritional value of the tomato, it will not only help to improve the way tomatoes are grown but will also contribute to how this crop is being used and developed in other biotechnology research programs. Researchers and breeders will also be able to directly apply the findings to other important crops.

### CONCLUSION

Our review has examined the biological and technological advantages of MicroTom/tomato, including transformation, genome sequencing, functional genomics, reverse genetic tools and improvement of fruit nutrition and flavor quality in MicroTom/tomato. The major features of MicroTom comprehend:

- (1) Sharing the intrinsic advantages of tomato such as a wealth of publicly available data in various fields such as plant physiology, biochemistry, pathology and genetics.
- (2) Possessing small size (up to 1357 plants/m<sup>-2</sup>), short life cycle (70-90 days from sowing to fruit-ripening), relatively small genome (950 Mb) and high throughput transformation technologies.
- (3) 28% of tomato euchromatin sequenced and the sequences of entire tomato euchromatin expected to be completed in 2009.



Fig. 3 Correlation between profile of *trans*-lycopene (right axis) and expression profile of a phytoene synthase (left axis), an upstream enzyme in *trans*-lycopene biosynthesis pathway, across 17 tomato IL lines.

- (4) Public availability of large functional genomic databases, including more than 40,000 ESTs, 8000 fulllength cDNAs (MiBASE at http://www.kazusa.or.jp/ jsol/microtom/) and hundreds of Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms (SNPs) (Yamamoto *et al.* 2005) in MicroTom and ~250,000 ESTs representing ~35,000 unigenes (http://www.sgn.cornell.edu), a cDNA array representing 8,500 unigenes, a long oligo-nucleotide array containing ~12,000 unigenes (Alba *et al.* 2004, http://bti.cornell.edu/CGEP/CGEP.html), an Affymetrix array containing ~10,000 probe sets representing approximately 8,000 unique genes (http://www.affymetrix. com/) and an expression database (TED; http://ted.bti. cornell.edu) in tomato.
- (5) Availability of diverse reverse genetic tools using Micro Tom.
- (6) A public online Tomato Metabolite Database (TOMET; http://tomet.bti.cornell.edu), which provides the information of metabolite and gene expression for studying fruit flavor and nutrition.
- (7) Public availability of large tomato/MicroTom mutant library containing 1,017 monogenic stocks (http://tgrc. ucdavis.edu/) and 13,000 M2 families (http://zamir.sgn. cornell.edu/).

The biological features and technological advances in MicroTom/tomato described above provide unique advantages to MicroTom as a new plant model system for plant genomics and development of economically important traits to improve crops.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The work in Dr. Fei's group has been supported by the National Science Foundation and USDA-ARS.

## REFERENCES

- Adams MD, Kelley JM, Gocayne JD, Dubnick M, Polymeropoulos MH, Xiao H, Merril CR, Wu A, Olde B, Moreno RF, Kerlavage AR, McCombie WR, Venter JC (1991) Complementary-DNA sequencing - expressed sequence tags and human genome project. *Science* 252, 1651-1656
- Alba R, Fei Z, Payton P, Liu Y, Moore S, Debbie P, Cohn J, D'Ascenzo M, Gordon J, Rose J, Martin G, Tanksley S, Bouzayen M, Jahn M, Giovannoni J (2004) ESTs, cDNA Microarrays, and gene expression profiling: tools for dissecting plant physiology and development. *The Plant Journal* **39**, 697-714
- Alba R, Payton P, Fei Z, McQuinn R, Debbie P, Martin GB, Tanksley SD, Giovannoni JJ (2005) Transcriptome and selected metabolite analyses reveal multiple points of ethylene control during tomato fruit development. *The Plant Cell* 17, 2954-2965
- Alvarez JP, Pekker I, Goldshmidt A, Blum E, Amsellem Z, Eshed Y (2006) Endogenous and synthetic microRNAs stimulate simultaneous, efficient, and localized regulation of multiple targets in diverse species. *The Plant Cell* 18, 1134-1151
- Arabidopsis Genome Initiative (2000) Analysis of the genome sequence of the flowering plant *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Nature* **408**, 796-815
- Arumuganathan K, Earle E (1991) Estimation of nuclear DNA content of plants by flow cytometry. *Plant Molecular Biology Reporter* 9, 208-218
- Baxter CJ, Sabar M, Quick WP, Sweetlove LJ (2005) Comparison of changes in fruit gene expression in tomato introgression lines provides evidence of genome-wide transcriptional changes and reveals links to mapped QTLs and described traits. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 56, 1591-1604
- Bennett MD, Leitch IJ, Price HJ, Johnston JS (2003) Comparisons with Caenorhabditis (approximately 100 Mb) and Drosophila (approximately 175 Mb) using flow cytometry show genome size in Arabidopsis to be approximately 157 Mb and thus approximately 25% larger than the Arabidopsis Genome Initiative estimate of approximately 125 Mb. Annals of Botany 91, 547-557
- Bishop GJ, Harrison K, Jones JDG (1996) The tomato Dwarf gene isolated by heterologous transposon tagging encodes the first member of a new cytochome P450 family. The Plant Cell 8, 859-869
- Brigneti G, Martin-Hernandez AM, Jin H, Chen J, Baulcombe DC, Baker B, Jones JDJ (2004) Virus-induced gene silencing in *Solanum* species. *The Plant Journal* 39, 264-272
- Caldwell DG, McCallum N, Shaw P, Muehlbauer GJ, Marshall DF, Waugh R (2004) A structured mutant population for forward and reverse genetics in barley (*Hordeum vulgare L.*). *The Plant Journal* **40**, 143-150

- Carrari F, Baxter C, Usadel B, Urbanczyk-Wochniak E, Zanor MI, Nunes-Nesi A, Nikiforova V, Centero D, Ratzka A, Pauly M, Sweetlove LJ, Fernie AR (2006) Integrated analysis of metabolite and transcript levels reveals the metabolic shifts that underlie tomato fruit development and highlight regulatory aspects of metabolic network behavior. *Plant Physiology* 142, 1380-1396
- Cheng ZM, Schnurr JA, Kapaun JA (1998) Timentin as an alternative antibiotic for suppression of *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* in genetic transformation. *Plant Cell Reports* 17, 646-649
- Chyi YS, Phillips GC (1987) High efficiency Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of Lycopersicon based on conditions favorable for regeneration. Plant Cell Reports 6, 105-108
- Cohn JR, Martin GB (2005) *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. tomato type III effectors AvrPto and AvrPtoB promote ethylene-dependent cell death in tomato. *The Plant Journal* **44**, 139-154
- Colbert T, Till BJ, Tompa R, Reynolds S, Steine MN, Yeung AT, McCallum CM, Comai L, Henikoff S (2001) High-throughput screening for induced point mutations. *Plant Physiology* 126, 480-484
- Comai L, Henikoff S (2006) TILLING: practical single-nucleotide mutation discovery. *The Plant Journal* 45, 684-694
- Costa MGC, Noguera FTS, Figueira ML, Otoni WC, Brommonoshenkel SH, Cecon PR (2000) Influence of the antibiotic timentin on plant regeneration of tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill) cultivars. *Plant Cell Reports* 19, 327-332
- Dan Y, Yan H, Munyikwa T, Dong J, Zhang B, Lahman L, Rommens C (2001) MicroTom – A model functional genomics assay. In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology – Plant 37, 22-A (Abstract)
- Dan Y, Yan H, Munyikwa T, Dong J, Zhang Y, Armstrong CL (2006) Micro Tom – A high-throughput model transformation system for functional genomics. *Plant Cell Reports* 25, 432-441
- Davis ML, Miller AR, Lineberger RD (1991) Temporal competence for transformation of *Lycopersicon esculentum* (L. Mill.) cotyledons by *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*: relation to wound-healing and soluble plant factors. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 42, 359-364
- Diévart A, Clark SE (2003) Using mutant alleles to determine the structure and function of leucine-rich repeat receptor-like kinases. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 6, 507-516
- Doganlar S, Frary A, Daunay MC, Lester RN, Tanksley SD (2002) A comparative genetic linkage map of eggplant (*Solanum melongena*) and its implications for genome evolution in the Solanaceae. *Genetics* 161, 1697-1711
- Drori E, Altman A (2001) Transformation of tomato with the *betaA* gene to confer osmotic stress tolerance (glycine–betaine production). *Israel Journal Plant Science* 49, 152-153
- Ellul P, Garcia-Sogo B, Pineda B, Rios G, Roig LA, Moreno V (2003) The ploidy level of transgenic plants in *Agrobacterium* mediated transformation of tomato cotyledons (*Lycopersicon esculentum* L. Mill.) is genotype and procedure dependent. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* **106**, 231-238
- Emmanuel E, Levy AA (2002) Tomato mutants as tools for functional genomics. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 5, 112-117
- Eshed Y, Zamir D (1994) A genomic library of *Lycopersicon pennellii* in *L. esculentum*: a tool for fine mapping of genes. *Euphytica* **79**, 175-179
- FAS/USDA (2003) Processed tomato products outlook and situation in selected counties. FAS/USDA Horticutural and Tropical Products Division, 7 pp
- Faurobert M, Mihr C, Bertin N, Pawlowski T, Negroni L, Sommerer N, Causse M (2007) Major proteome variations associated with cherry tomato pericarp development and ripening. *Plant Physiology* 143, 1327-1346
- Fei Z, Tang X, Alba R, White J, Ronning C, Martin G, Tanksley S, Giovannoni J (2004) Comprehensive EST analysis of tomato and comparative genomics of fruit ripening. *The Plant Journal* 40, 47-59
- Fei Z, Tang X, Alba R, Giovannoni J (2006) Tomato Expression Database (TED): A suite of data presentation and analysis tools. *Nucleic Acids Re*search 34, D766-770
- Fillatti J, Kiser J, Rose R, Comai L (1987) Efficient transfer of a glyphosate tolerance gene into tomato using a binary Agrobacterium tumefaciens vector. Bio/technology 5, 726-730
- Frary A, Earle ED (1996) An examination of factors affecting the efficiency of Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of tomato. Plant Cell Reports 16, 235-240
- Fu DQ, Zhu BZ, Zhu HL, Jiang WB, Luo YB (2005) Virus-induced gene silencing in tomato fruit. *The Plant Journal* 43, 299-308
- Gidoni D, Fuss E, Burbidge A, Speckmann GJ, James S, Nijkamp D, Mett A, Feiler J, Smoker M, de Vroomen MJ (2003) Multi-functional T-DNA/ Ds tomato lines designed for gene cloning and molecular and physical dissection of the tomato genome. *Plant Molecular Biology* **51**, 83-98
- Gilchrist EJ, Haughn GW (2005) TILLING without a plough: a new method with applications for reverse genetics. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 8, 211-215
- Goff SA, Klee HJ (2006) Plant volatile compounds: sensory cues for health and nutritional value? Science 311, 815-819
- Greene EA, Codomo CA, Taylor NE, Henikoff JG, Till BJ, Reynolds SH, Enns LC, Burtner C, Johnson JE, Odden AR, Comai L, Henikoff S (2003) Spectrum of chemically induced mutations from a large-scale reversegenetic screen in *Arabidopsis. Genetics* 164, 731-740

- Hamza S, Chupeau Y (1993) Re-evaluation of conditions for plant regeneration and Agrobacterium-mediated transformation from tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum). Journal of Experimental Botany 44, 1837-1845
- Haughn GW, Gilchrist EJ (2006) TILLING in the botanical garden: A reverse genetic technique feasible for all plant species. In: Teixeira da Silva JA (Ed) *Floriculture, Ornamental and Plant Biotechnology: Advances and Topical Issues* (1<sup>st</sup> Edn, Vol I), Global Science Books, Isleworth, UK, pp 476-482
- Henikoff S, Comai L (2003) Single-nucleotide mutations for plant functional genomics. Annual Review Plant Biology 54, 375-401
- Hinchee MAW, Corbin DR, Armstrong CL, Fry JE, Sato SS, de Boer DL, Petersen WL, Armstrong TA, Connor-Ward DV, Layton JG, Horsch RB (1994) Plant transformation. In: Vasil IK, Thorpe TA (Eds) Plant Cell and Tissue Culture, Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, pp 231-270
- Hu W, Phillips GC (2001) A combination of overgrowth-control and antibiotics improves Agrobacterium tumefaciens-mediated transformation efficiency for cultivated tomato (L. esculentum). In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biologv – Plant 37, 12-18
- Ieamkhang S, Chatchawankanphanich O (2005) Augmentin<sup>®</sup> as an alternative antibiotic for growth suppression of Agrobacterium for tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum) transformation. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture 82, 213-220
- International Rice Genome Sequencing Project (2005) The map-based sequence of the rice genome. *Nature* **436**, 793-800
- Isaacson T, Ronen G, Zamir D, Hirschberg J (2002) Cloning of tangerine from tomato reveals a carotenoid isomerase essential for the production of beta-carotene and xanthophylls in plants. *The Plant Cell* 14, 333-342
- Jacobs JP, Yoder JI (1989) Ploidy levels in transgenic plants determined by chloroplast number. *Plant Cell Reports* **7**, 662-664
- Jiang GY, Jin DM, Weng ML, Guo BT, Wang B (1999) Transformation and expression of trichosanthin gene in tomato. Acta Botanica Sinica 41, 334-336
- Kahlau S, Aspinall S, Gray JC, Bock R (2006) Sequence of the tomato chloroplast DNA and evolutionary comparison of solanaceous plastid genomes. *Journal of Molecular Evolution* 63, 194-207
- Karimi M, de Meyer B, Hilson P (2005) Modular cloning in plant cells. Trends in Plant Science 10, 103-105
- Karimi M, Inzé D, Depicker A (2002) GATEWAY vectors for *Agrobacterium*mediated plant transformation. *Trends in Plant Science* 7, 193-195
- Koornneef M, Bade J, Hanhart C, Horsman K, Schel J, Soppe W, Vekerk R, Zabel P (1993) Characterization and mapping of a gene controlling shoot regeneration in tomato. *Plant Journal* 3, 131-141
- Koornneef M, Dellaert LWM, van den Veen JH (1982) EMS- and radiationinduced mutation frequencies at individual loci in *Arabidopsis thaliana* (L.) Heynh. *Mutation Research* 93, 109-123
- Koornneef M, Hanhart C, Jongsma M, Toma I, Weide R, Zabel P, Hille J (1986) Breeding of a tomato genotype readily accessible to genetic manipulation. *Plant Science* 45, 201-208
- Koornneef M, Hanhart C, Martinelli L (1987) A genetic analysis of cell culture traits in tomato. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 74, 633-641
- Krasnyanski S, Sandhu J, Domier LL, Buetow DE, Korban SS (2001) Effect of enhanced CAMV 35S promoter and a fruit-specific promoter on uidA gene expression in transgenic tomato plants. In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology – Plant 37, 427-433
- Krysan PJ, Young JC, Sussman MR (1999) T-DNA as an insertional mutagen in Arabidopsis. *The Plant Cell* 11, 2283-2290
- Li X, Song Y, Century K, Straight S, Ronald P, Dong X, Lassner M, Zhang Y (2001) A fast neutron deletion mutagenesis-based reverse genetics system for plants. *The Plant Journal* **27**, 235-242
- Lima JE, Carvalho RF, Neto AT, Figueira A, Peres LEP (2004) a tomato genotype with miniature size, short life cycle, and improved *in vitro* shoot regeneration. *Plant Science* **167**, 753-757
- Lin JJ, Assad-Garcia N, Kuo J (1995) Plant hormone effect of antibiotics on the transformation efficiency of plant tissue by *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* cells. *Plant Science* **109**, 171-177
- Ling HQ, Kriseleit D, Gaal MG (1998) Effect of ticarcillin/potassium clavulanate on callus growth and shoot regeneration in *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation of tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill.). *Plant Cell Reports* **17**, 843-837
- Liu Y, Schiff M, Dinesh-Kumar SP (2002) Virus-induced gene silencing in tomato. The Plant Journal 31, 777-786
- Margulies M, Egholm M, Altman WE, Attiya S, Bader JS, Bemben LA, Berka J, Braverman MS, Chen YJ, Chen Z, Dewell SB, Du L, Fierro JM, Gomes XV, Godwin BC, He W, Helgesen S, Ho CH, Irzyk GP, Jando SC, Alenquer ML, Jarvie TP, Jirage KB, Kim JB, Knight JR, Lanza JR, Leamon JH, Lefkowitz SM, Lei M, Li J, Lohman KL, Lu H, Makhijani VB, McDade KE, McKenna MP, Myers EW, Nickerson E, Nobile JR, Plant R, Puc BP, Ronan MT, Roth GT, Sarkis GJ, Simons JF, Simpson JW, Srinivasan M, Tartaro KR, Tomasz A, Vogt KA, Volkmer GA, Wang SH, Wang Y, Weiner MP, Yu P, Begley RF, Rothberg JM (2005) Genome sequencing in microfabricated high-density picolitre reactors. *Nature* 437, 376-380
- Mathews H, Clendennen SK, Caldwell CG, Liu XL, Connors K, Matheis N, Schuster K, Menasco DJ, Wagoner W, Lightner J, Wagner DR (2003) Activation tagging in tomato identifies a transcriptional regulator of anthocyanin

biosynthesis, modification, and transport. Plant Cell 15, 1689-1703

- McCallum CM, Comai L, Greene EA, Henikoff S (2000) Targeted screening for induced mutations. *Nature Biotechnology* 18, 455-457
- McCormick S, Niedermeyer J, Fry J, Barnason A, Horsch R, Fraley R (1986) Leaf disc transformation of cultivated tomato (*L. esculentum*) using *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*. *Plant Cell Reports* 5, 81-84
- Meinke DW, Cherry JM, Dean C, Rounsley SD, Koornneef M (1998) Arabidopsis thaliana: a model plant for genome analysis. Science 282, 679-682
- Meissner R, Chague V, Zhu Q, Emmanuel E, Elkind Y, Levy AA (2000) A high throughput system for transposon tagging and promoter trapping in tomato. *The Plant Journal* 38, 861-872
- Meissner R, Jacobson Y, Melame S, Levyatuv S, Shalev G, Ashri A, Elkind Y, Levy A (1997) A new model system for tomato genetics. *The Plant Journal* 12, 1465-1472
- Menda N, Semel Y, Peled D, Eshed Y, Zamir D (2004) *In silico* screening of a saturated mutation library of tomato. *The Plant Journal* **38**, 861-872
- Meyerowitz E, Sommerville CR (1994) Arabidopsis, Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor, 1300 pp
- Monforte A, Tanksley S (2000) Development of a set of near isogenic and backcross recombinant inbred lines containing most of the Lycopersicon hirsutum genome in a L. esculentum genetic background: a tool for gene mapping and gene discovery. Genome 43, 803-813
- Moore S, Payton P, Wright M, Tanksley S, Giovannoni J (2005) Utilization of tomato microarrays for comparative gene expression analysis in the Solanaceae. *Journal of Experimental Botany* **56**, 2885-2895
- Murray SL, Vuuren RJ, Berger DK, van Vuuren RJ (1998) Tomato transformation is influenced by acetosyringone and Agrobacterium tumefaciens cell density. Journal of the South African Society, Horticultural Science 8, 60-64
- Nauerby B, Billing K, Wyndaele R (1997) Influence of the antibiotic timentin on plant regeneration compared to carbenicillin and cefotaxime in concentrations suitable for elimination of *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*. *Plant Science* 123, 169-177
- Orzaez D, Mirabel S, Wieland WH, Granell A (2006) Agroinjection of tomato fruits: A tool for rapid functional analysis of transgenes directly in fruit. *Plant Physiology* 140, 3-11
- Ostergaard L, Yanofsky MF (2004) Establishing gene function by mutagenesis in Arabidopsis thaliana. The Plant Journal **39**, 682-696
- Park SH, Morris JL, Park JE, Hirschi KD, Smith RH (2003) Efficient and genotype-independent Agrobacterium-mediated tomato transformation. Journal of Plant Physiology 160, 1253-1257
- Peres LEP, Morgante PG, Vechi C, Kraus JE, van Sluys MA (2001) Shoot regeneration capacity from roots and transgenic hairy roots of different tomato cultivars and wild related species. *Plant Cell, Tissue Organ and Culture* 65, 37-44
- Qiu P, Shandilya H, D'Alessio JM, O'Connor K, Durocher J, Gerard GF (2004) Mutation detection using Surveyor nuclease. *Biotechniques* 36, 702-707
- Rensink WA, Lee Y, Liu J, Iobst S, Ouyang S, Buell CR (2005) Comparative analyses of six solanaceous transcriptomes reveal a high degree of sequence conservation and species-specific transcripts. *BMC Genomics* 6, 124
- Rocco M, D'Ambrosio C, Arena S, Faurobert M, Scaloni A, Marra M (2006) Proteomic analysis of tomato fruits from two ecotypes during ripening. *Proteomics* 6, 3781-3791
- Rommens C (2000) Discovery of new signaling genes associated with late blight resistance in potato. *Cambridge Healthtech Institute's Third Annual Impact of Molecular Biology on Crop Production & Crop Protection* (abstract), pp 2
- Rudd S (2003) Expressed sequence tags: alternative or complement to whole genome sequences? *Trends Plant Science* 8, 321-329
- **Ruf S, Hermann M, Berger IJ, Carrer H, Bock R** (2001) Stable genetic transformation of tomato plastids and expression of a foreign protein in fruit. *Nature Biotechnology* **19**, 870-875
- Schauer N, Semel Y, Roessner U, Gur A, Balbo I, Carrari F, Pleban T, Perez-Melis A, Bruedigam C, Kopka J, Willmitzer L, Zamir D, Fernie AR (2006) Comprehensive metabolic profiling and phenotyping of interspecific introgression lines for tomato improvement. *Nature Biotechnology* 24, 447-454
- Scott JW, Harbaugh BK (1989) MicroTom-a miniature dwarf tomato. Florida Agriculture Experiment Station Circular 370, 1-6
- Shahin EA, Sukhapinda K, Simpson RB, Spivey R (1986) Transformation of cultivated tomato by a binary vector in *Agrobacterium rhizogenes*: transgenic plants with normal phenotypes harbor binary vector T-DNA, but not Riplasmid T-DNA. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* **72**, 770-777
- Shahriari F, Hashemi H, Hosseini B (2006) Factors influencing regeneration and genetic transformation of three elite cultivars of tomato (*Lycopersicon* esculentum L.). Pakistan Journal of Biological Sciences 9, 2729-2733
- Sidorova N, Layton JG, Armstrong CL (2001) Comparison of model transformation systems. In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology – Plant 37, 20-A (Abstract)
- Sigareva M, Spivey R, Willits MG, Kramer CM, Chang YF (2004) An efficient mannose selection protocol for tomato that has no adverse effect on the ploidy level of transgenic plants. *Plant Cell Reports* **23**, 236-245

Slade AJ, Fuerstenberg SI, Loeffler D, Steine MN, Facciotti D (2005) A

reverse genetic, non transgenic approach to wheat crop improvement by TIL-LING. *Nature Biotechnology* 23, 75-81

- Soltis PS, Soltis DE, Chase MW (1999) Angiosperm phylogeny inferred from multiple genes as a tool for comparative biology. *Nature* **402**, 402-404
- Sun YJ, Uchii S, Watanabe S, Ezura H (2006) A highly efficient transformation protocol for Micro-Tom, a model cultivar for tomato functional genomics. *Plant Cell Physiology* 47(3), 426-431
- Tadege M, Mysore KS (2006) Insertional mutagenesis for plant functional genomics. In: Teixeira da Silva JA (Ed) *Floriculture, Ornamental and Plant Biotechnology: Advances and Topical Issues* (1<sup>st</sup> Edn, Vol I), Global Science Books, Isleworth, UK, pp 608-618
- Tieman DM, Zeigler M, Schmelz EA, Taylor MG, Bliss P, Kirst M, Klee HJ (2006a) Identification of loci affecting flavour volatile emissions in tomato fruits. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 54, 887-896
- Tieman D, Taylor M, Schauer N, Fernie AR, Hanson AD, Klee HJ (2006b) Tomato aromatic amino acid decarboxylases participate in synthesis of the flavor volatiles 2-phenylethanol and 2-phenylacetaldehyde. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 103, 8287-8292
- Tuskan GA, Difazio S, Jansson S, Bohlmann J, Grigoriev I, Hellsten U, Putnam N, Ralph S, Rombauts S, Salamov A, Schein J, Sterck L, Aerts A, Bhalerao RR, Bhalerao RP, Blaudez D, Boerjan W, Brun A, Brunner A, Busov V, Campbell M, Carlson J, Chalot M, Chapman J, Chen GL, Cooper D, Coutinho PM, Couturier J, Covert S, Cronk Q, Cunningham R, Davis J, Degroeve S, Déjardin A, Depamphilis C, Detter J, Dirks B, Dubchak I, Duplessis S, Ehlting J, Ellis B, Gendler K, Goodstein D, Gribskov M, Grimwood J, Groover A, Gunter L, Hamberger B, Heinze B, Helariutta Y, Henrissat B, Holligan D, Holt R, Huang W, Islam-Faridi N, Jones S, Jones-Rhoades M, Jorgensen R, Joshi C, Kangasjärvi J, Karlsson J, Kelleher C, Kirkpatrick R, Kirst M, Kohler A, Kalluri U, Larimer F, Leebens-Mack J, Leplé JC, Locascio P, Lou Y, Lucas S, Martin F, Montanini B, Napoli C, Nelson DR, Nelson C, Nieminen K, Nilsson O, Pereda V, Peter G, Philippe R, Pilate G, Poliakov A, Razumovskaya J, Richardson P, Rinaldi C, Ritland K, Rouzé P, Ryaboy D, Schmutz J, Schrader J, Segerman B, Shin H, Siddiqui A, Sterky F, Terry A, Tsai CJ, Uberbacher E, Unneberg P, Vahala J, Wall K, Wessler S, Yang G, Yin T, Douglas C, Marra M, Sandberg G, Van de Peer Y, Rokhsar D (2006) The genome of black cottonwood, Populus trichocarpa (Torr. & Gray). Science 313, 1596-1604
- Tyu CM, Anand A, Kang L, Mysore KS (2004) Agrodrench: a novel and effective agroinoculation method for virus-induced gene silencing in roots and diverse Solanaceous species. *The Plant Journal* 40, 322-331
- Ultzen T, Gielen J, Venema F, Westerbroek A, de Haan P, Tan ML, Schram A, van Grinsven M, Goldbach R (1995) Resistance to tomato spotted wilt virus in transgenic tomato hybrids. *Euphytica* **85**, 159-168
- van der Hoeven R, Ronning C, Giovannoni J, Martin G, Tanksley S (2002) Deductions about the number, organization, and evolution of genes in the tomato genome based on analysis of a large expressed sequence tag collection and selective genomic sequencing. *The Plant Cell* 14, 1441-1456
- van Rockel JSC, Damm B, Melchers LS, Hoekema A (1993) Factors influencing transformation frequency of tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum*) expressed sequence tags from the laboratory-grown miniature tomato. *Plant Cell Reports* 12, 644-647
- Velcheva M, Faltin Z, Flaishman M, Eshdat Y, Perl A (2005) A liquid culture system for Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum L. Mill.). Plant Science 168, 121-130
- Vergauwe A, Cammaert R, Vandenberghe D, Genetello C, Inzé D, van Montagu M, van den Eeckhout E (1996) Agrobacterium tumefaciens-mediated transformation of Artemisia annua L. and regeneration of transgenic plants. Plant Cell Reports 15, 929-933
- Vidya CSS, Manoharan M, Kumar CTR, Savithri HS, Sita GL (2000) Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum var. Pusa Ruby) with coat-protein gene of Physalis mottle tymovirus. Journal of Plant Physiology 156, 106-110
- Wang H, Li G, Chen R (2006) Fast neutron bombardment (FNB) mutagenesis for forward and reverse genetic studies in plants. In: Teixeira da Silva JA (Ed) Floriculture, Ornamental and Plant Biotechnology: Advances and Topical Issues (1<sup>st</sup> Edn, Vol I), Global Science Books, Isleworth, UK, pp 629-639
- Watanabe S, Mizoguchi T, Aoki K, Kubo Y, Mori H, Imanishi S, Yamazaki Y, Shibata D, Ezura H (2007) Ethymethanesulfonate (EMS) mutagenesis of Solanum lycopersicum cv. Micro-Tom for large scale mutant screens. Plant Biotechnology 24, 33-38
- Waterhouse PM, Heliwell CA (2003) Exploring plant genomes by RNAi-induced gene silencing. *Nature Review Genetics* 4, 29-38
- Webb RE, Stoner AK, Gentile AG (1973) Tomatoes. In: Nelson RR (Ed) Plants for Disease Resistance Breeding, Pennsylvania State University Press, University Park, pp 344-360
- Yamamoto N, Tsugane T, Watanabe M, Yano K, Maeda F, Kuwata C, Torki M, Ban Y, Nishimura S, Shibata D (2005) Expressed sequence tags from the laboratory-grown miniature tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum*) cultivar Micro-Tom and mining for single nucleotide polymorphisms and insertions/ deletions in tomato cultivars. *Gene* 15, 127-134
- Yeung AT, Hattangadi D, Blakesley L, Nicolas E (2005) Enzymatic mutation detection technologies. *Biotechniques* 38, 749-758